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  Opening Fire




  Tony McGovern did not have time to turn off his headlights. The first shot shattered the driver’s window of his black Audi. The dull percussive thuds of three more shots

  followed instantly. The gunfire brought his friends from inside the New Morven pub where they had been waiting for him. As they emerged, a white car reversed at speed away from the pub, a man was

  seen sprinting in the opposite direction and McGovern was slumped, dying, in his car.




  He had already visited the pub earlier in the day, drinking sparingly – a beer, possibly two. He was known to just about everyone in the Morven although only a handful of drinkers would

  say hello, catching his eye fleetingly, giving small nods and mumbled acknowledgements. He had spent some time in the backshop, the office behind the bar, but soon returned out front to the gaggle

  of drinkers who were splitting their Saturday afternoon between the pub and the bookies.




  McGovern stood at the side of the bar with his arms resting on the counter. Side-on to the main door, partially hidden by the jangling fruit machines, he spoke quietly to a few men, who

  approached him in turn. His words were only just loud enough to be heard above the growing clamour. When the others spoke, McGovern’s gaze was directed down towards the floor but his eyes

  would flicker to and from the swing doors whenever they opened.




  The date was 16 September 2000 and it was cold enough outside for McGovern to be wearing a jacket. It helped to conceal the heavy bulk of a £400 Kevlar stab-proof vest that he wore

  beneath. He had not left his home without strapping on the body armour for weeks – not since June when someone had tried to shoot him dead one Friday afternoon while he showered at his

  bungalow in nearby Bishopbriggs.




  McGovern, thirty-five, had learned to be a careful man but if he felt safe anywhere it was there, at that rough public house between Springburn and Balornock, north of the M8 motorway that

  bisects Glasgow. Sited like a fort on a hill at the top of Edgefauld Road, the white-painted pub stands in isolation off the main road. Four stone steps lead up on to the small concrete concourse

  and surrounding car park while closed-circuit TV cameras, encased in steel mesh, perch high on each of the building’s corners. Tony had not voiced any particular fears that day and had no

  special plans for the night ahead. He left the bar after an hour or so, arranging to return to the Morven after 10 p.m. to meet some family, some friends, some associates.




  His speeding £30,000 Audi A6 overtook another car on Syriam Street at 10.15 p.m. The driver remembered seeing the car as it headed towards the Morven half a mile away. McGovern phoned his

  wife Jackie on his mobile while driving. It was to be the last time she would speak to him. There were other men near the Morven making calls. Other arrangements were being made.




  In Hornshill Street, cutting up from the busy Barmulloch Road towards the Morven, a white car was parked with a number of men inside it. As McGovern neared the pub, a white Vauxhall Astra was

  seen speeding down Boghead Road towards McGovern’s Audi as he drew up in front of the pub at 10.20 p.m.




  The Morven was busy enough but it should have been busier. For every drinker from the surrounding streets buying pints and shorts at the bar, another was spending time and money elsewhere. The

  New Morven was a McGovern pub. It might not have the names of Tony and his three brothers on the deeds or the licence but their business and reputation might as well have been posted on the

  glass-fronted noticeboard outside that plugged the acts brave enough to accept a booking. The McGoverns’ business was selling class A drugs in the council estates and high-rises of north

  Glasgow. Their reputation was for savage, murderous violence.




  McGovern was a regular visitor to the Morven, sometimes for pleasure, sometimes for business, more often a combination of the two. He had already collected his money from the men dealing drugs

  inside – heroin to the junkies, Ecstasy to the kids heading into town – and he’d checked his tick book, the scrawled record of outstanding debts, for drugs distributed or money

  lent. He parked his car in Littlehill Street, in front of the Morven, facing away from Edgefauld Road. If he’d faced the other way, he might have seen the car drawing in behind. He might have

  noticed the well-built man half-walking, half-jogging the twenty yards towards the black Audi. If he had seen his killer approaching, McGovern might have had a chance, an opportunity to flee or to

  fight. Instead, he was still seated in his car when the first bullet shattered the driver’s window before three more were pumped into his groin.




  His headlights were still glaring in the darkening gloom when his friends ran from the pub. A white car was seen reversing, engine screaming, out of Littlehill Street on to Edgefauld Road and

  away. A man was seen sprinting through the pub’s small car park towards the council houses of Burnbrae Street before he disappeared into a garden, into the darkness.




  The 999 call was made at 10.22 p.m. and, within minutes, an ambulance, blue lights flashing, drew up at the Morven. Emergency treatment was administered before McGovern was slid on to a

  stretcher and into the ambulance. The crew sped along Petershill Road, turning left on to the carriageway of Springburn Road to Glasgow’s Royal Infirmary less than a mile and a half away. It

  was there that Tony McGovern was pronounced dead at 11.23 p.m.




  At the scene of the shooting, uniformed officers were taping off the streets around the pub. Their colleagues took details from drinkers, from the residents of homes nearby and from taxi drivers

  ranked on the main road just yards away – details but no information. No one had seen or heard a thing.




  In a few days’ time, Detective Superintendent Jeanette Joyce, leading the murder inquiry, told reporters, ‘At this time, we have no motive. There is no obvious reason why Mr McGovern

  was murdered.’




  Few of her officers would agree as even those with only a passing knowledge of the bloody feud that was being played out in the northside of Scotland’s biggest city already knew there was

  only one suspect for this most clinical of gangland hits. He was not always an enemy of McGovern. The two had once been best friends, best men at each other’s weddings, partners in crime,

  allies in the venal drugs trade laying waste to lives and neighbourhoods in their home city.




  His name was Jamie Stevenson and he was to become better known as The Iceman.
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  Busted at Dawn




  It was still dark when officers started arriving at the squat police station in East Kilbride town centre and, by the time the briefing began, 150 officers had assembled. Only

  fifteen of them knew why.




  The small group of officers from the Scottish Crime and Drug Enforcement Agency (SCDEA) understood that morning’s work would signal the beginning of the end of an operation stretching back

  almost four years. The secret offensive against Scotland’s biggest drugs trafficker had taken officers around the world and back again. It had involved months of uncomfortable, nerve-jangling

  surveillance – months of covert observation and secret recording of some of Scotland’s most dangerous and ruthless men. It had already led to the seizure of twelve tonnes of drugs worth

  £61 million, nine convictions for drug trafficking and money laundering and disruption to the criminal operation streaming heroin, cocaine, speed and cannabis into the country’s cities,

  towns and villages. As the sun came up on 20 September 2006, the police operation, code-named Folklore, was about to enter a final, decisive phase.




  Twenty addresses were to be visited that Wednesday morning, in Lanarkshire, Glasgow, and Amsterdam. The Scottish task force were split, briefed and ready to move by 6.15 a.m. Some left by the

  back door into the station car park where the fleet of marked and unmarked cars and vans was waiting. Colleagues, drafted in from other stations, left by the front door where multicultural messages

  etched into the glass door panels spell out ‘Welcome’ in twenty-four different languages. There would be no similar greetings at their destinations.




  The SCDEA’s team, led by the elite agency’s crime controller Detective Superintendent Stephen Ward, attended the briefing that detailed officers to each of the target addresses and

  revealed the identities of the six men and two women to be taken from the houses and flats scattered across the West of Scotland. There would be no surprises or omissions. The agency’s

  surveillance teams – officers on the ground and the specialist teams of electronic eavesdroppers – had been watching and listening, plotting the location of every target.




  But Ward did not follow any of the units rolling out of the car parks around the station, opposite the district court and council buildings. Instead, he returned to the agency’s

  headquarters. There, in the control room of the nondescript red-brick Osprey House, hard against Glasgow Airport, he would follow the endgame of Folklore. His attention was focused most on two of

  the homes whose occupants were about to be abruptly woken.




  Afterwards, Ward would tell reporters:




  

    

      

        Today has seen us target several individuals. This type of operation, which involves painstaking intelligence gathering over many months, is the way forward as far as we

        are concerned. Organised crime is led by ruthless and dangerous individuals who seek to make profit from the pain and suffering of the most vulnerable people in our communities. The public

        rightly expect our response to this to be co-ordinated and robust.


      


    


  




  Most of the police teams had headed out of East Kilbride but the vehicles of one of the tasked units drove south, in convoy, along the deserted carriageways of the new town, to one of the modern

  estates on its southern borders. Lindsayfield is popular with parents looking for a safe haven to raise their children. Good for schools, handy for a Morrisons superstore, it seems no different to

  the commuter town’s other tidy, new-build estates. It was here, in the scheme where the streets bear the names of famous Scottish mountain ranges, that the police team headed, ghosting slowly

  over the road bumps deterring speeding drivers and passing the neatly trimmed lawns where kids’ forgotten scooters lay in the dew. They pulled up just before entering the cul-de-sac of

  Campsie Road, out of sight of number 44.




  Sleeping inside the double-garaged villa, backing on to fields and facing down the streets inspired by the Pentlands, the Cheviots, and the Cairngorms, were Gerry Carbin Jnr, twenty-six, his

  partner Karen Maxwell, thirty-one, and their two children, aged one and six. They had also been home one Saturday evening eight months earlier when, as detectives listened in, Carbin unwillingly

  took delivery of a holdall containing £204,000 of drugs money. The bag, unsuccessfully hidden first in a cupboard and then in a study, would provide the breakthrough the Folklore team had

  been working towards for four years.




  Seven miles away, across East Kilbride and the green fields dividing it from Greater Glasgow, another team had arrived at their destination. It was an equally unlikely setting for the climactic

  raids of a landmark police investigation into international drugs trafficking and money laundering. Burnside, lying on the south-east rim of the city, is also popular with young families. Many are

  drawn to the tree-lined sandstone terraces on the edge of Rutherglen, just a few miles from the city centre.




  Fishescoates Gardens is half-hidden in the heart of Burnside. A small development of modern flats, it lies in an L-shaped corner plot, just off the main road to East Kilbride. A funeral home

  opposite the development’s main entrance strikes the only jarring note. Signs warn that the well-kept communal gardens are private and that dogs are not welcome. The recycling bins are neatly

  lined up for collection. Strangers are noticed and not particularly welcome. A sign on the rear door of number 21 urges residents of the nine flats to make sure it is locked at night. The officers

  preparing to visit the couple living quietly in one of the flats on the second floor came through the front.




  Armed response units were nearby. Thousands of hours of taped conversations, recorded by hidden bugs inside their homes, suggested the gang were not reckless or foolish enough to stash guns

  there but no chances could be taken that morning. The 150-strong force also included the so-called ‘Angry Men’, the Strathclyde officers trained and equipped for forced entries in the

  face of extreme hostility. Wearing protective clothing, visored and carrying mini-rams, the teams were ferried by van to each of the homes. The synchronised raids began at 6.40 a.m.




  The doors were forced opened and stayed open as officers entered the homes, detained the suspects and mounted inch-by-inch searches. As cupboards were emptied, drawers rifled and carpets lifted,

  officers found almost £8,000 in Carbin’s home, along with eight luxury watches. A further thirty-six high-value watches were found in the simultaneous raids, some valued at more than

  £30,000. Those searches already underway even before the suspects had been taken from their homes, would help secure their downfall. One officer involved in the arrest of Carbin and his

  partner in East Kilbride said:




  

    

      

        It was early. They were still half asleep but they knew who we were and why we were there. We had gone to Carbin’s in January looking for a bag of cash and he had

        lost the plot, shouting and bawling. This time, he just kept it shut and got dressed.


      


    


  




  In Burnside, Carbin’s stepfather was equally subdued. Like the others, he was driven to the high-security police office in Govan on the southern banks of the Clyde and detained. He called

  himself a self-employed car valet and a sometimes jewellery trader. According to his tax forms, his business was slowly growing, earning him £38,083 in 2003 rising to £80,885 two years

  later. His returns to the Inland Revenue did not include the dirty millions raked in from his true occupation – being a career criminal commanding Scotland’s biggest-ever drugs

  importation business.




  By 8 a.m. on 20 September 2006 – six years and four days after the fatal shooting of his former best friend and gangland ally – Jamie Stevenson was behind bars. He had nothing to

  say.
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  Here’s Jamie




  ‘Get yourself tae fuck!’ boomed the dark-haired youth at a nearby policeman.




  The officer was perplexed since, up to that point, he had not even noticed the swaggering teen.




  This was one police officer’s introduction in 1982 to Jamie Stevenson, then a seventeen-year-old with a growing reputation as an aspiring man of violence in an area with no shortage of

  them.




  The smarter criminals knew better than to fall out with the police, quickly grasping that there was truth in the half joke about Strathclyde Police being the biggest gang in the city – and

  one with a very long memory. But Stevenson, later a model of understated discretion at the sharp end of a global organised crime network, had yet to learn that it often paid to keep his mouth

  shut.




  One Scots-Italian crook in his twenties was soon to make Stevenson’s acquaintance in an even more memorable way. It happened while he was hanging around a Springburn petrol station which

  was a haunt for the street-level drug dealers just when Scotland’s heroin epidemic was first taking hold. Stevenson’s fast, brutal and efficient knife attack left scarlet splashes of

  his victim’s blood on the diesel-stained forecourt. To most people, it was a cowardly and terrifying slashing but, according to gangland legend, this was the moment when Stevenson had

  ‘arrived’.




  At the time, the police were certain that this act of violence, deliberately performed in the view of a gaggle of small-time dealers and their desperate customers, was Stevenson’s way of

  making it clear that he was not to be messed with. One veteran officer said:




  

    

      

        Parts of the west of Scotland are like the old Wild West. In the cowboy films, everyone wants to take on the fastest gunslinger and if you’re the local hard man, in

        Govan, the Gorbals or Greenock, people want to have a pop.


      


    


  




  In those early days, as the crime gangs bullied, stabbed and slashed their way around their streets, Stevenson’s menacing confidence was just the kind of thing the gangsters ruling his

  area were looking for in new recruits. And the police say that, even at such a young age, he already had a reputation as being willing and able to use a knife to hold up shopkeepers on the orders

  of two older criminals. In fact, even back then, many recall how older, cooler criminals were needed to rein in the reckless bravado of Stevenson. One police officer said:




  

    

      

        Stevenson became an enforcer and a chib man but he wasn’t very smart with the police as he had a big mouth. Clever criminals didn’t stand there sneering at you

        and drawing attention to themselves for no reason. He got noticed by behaving like that and it wasn’t clever because all it does is harm business.


      


    


  




  James Stevenson, always known as Jamie, was born in 1965 to Emma and James Snr, a general labourer who was not around during his son’s upbringing. By 1969, Emma and her toddler son were

  living with her new partner who she would later have a daughter with and marry in 1984. Stevenson’s first home at 37 Monkland Street in the Townhead area of Glasgow has long gone. In fact,

  not only is the family’s tenement flat away, the entire street has been wiped off the map, long buried underneath developer’s concrete.




  Most of Stevenson’s childhood was spent in the Red Road high flats in the Barmulloch area in north Glasgow. His Petershill Drive tower-block home was built in 1969. Futuristic looking for

  its time, it was amongst the tallest buildings in the city. To a child in the late 60s, these new concrete monoliths would have been every bit as exciting as the Empire State Building in

  Manhattan.




  He wasn’t exactly a model pupil at All Saints Secondary School – a school which hit the headlines in 2004 when an eleven-year-old refugee boy from East Africa died after a scuffle in

  the canteen.




  Another ex-detective remembers arresting fifteen-year-old Stevenson following one of his first brushes with the law. He said:




  

    

      

        In those days, Stevenson was just a skinny wee boy who lived for a spell near Maxwell Road in Pollokshields in the southside of Glasgow. He broke into a car and was

        spotted by a security guard who was ex-military. We arrested him and he appeared in court for that. I suspect that it does not appear on his record because a lot of the old paper records were

        routinely binned when the system became computerised. In future years I knew him as part of a serious criminal gang with a rising reputation. I was amazed that it was the same boy.


      


    


  




  The petrol station slashing earned Stevenson a place in a Springburn gang led by the feared McGovern brothers. One of them, Anthony, had followed Stevenson’s arrival into the world eleven

  days later, at the same maternity ward, at Robroyston Hospital. By the time Jamie and Tony were teenagers, they were already as close as brothers and would remain inseparable for years to come.

  Only death would divide them.
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  Chips Off the Block




  On light summer evenings, the queue of customers would snake out the door of Santi’s fish-and-chip shop in Springburn Way. Much of the business was local but the lure of

  Santi’s suppers was enough to draw passing trade from the type of people who would not normally have cause to stop in Springburn. These hungry middle classes would head back to comfortable

  homes in the more affluent suburb of Bishopbriggs via the A803 dual carriageway – an ugly scar cutting through the centre of Springburn. They would warily sidestep the youths who clearly

  regarded the patch of pavement outside Santi’s as belonging to them.




  It was 1980, long before the shell suit and baseball cap became the uniform of the Glasgow schemes, these teens were wearing the latest skin-tight stonewashed jeans and jackets and colourful

  Kickers on their feet. The sharp-faced, streetwise kids would stand outside Santi’s sharing cigarettes, joking with each other and making their presence felt as they eyeballed the well-to-do

  outsiders waiting in line for their chips.




  Amongst this gang of around twenty boys and girls were the teenage McGovern brothers who had already gained notoriety, not least because previous generations of their family had also been

  steeped in crime. Their parents Joe Snr, a taxi driver, and Elizabeth Mitchell, a sewing machinist, tied the knot at St Aloysius Church in October 1962. Their Catholic wedding was perhaps prompted

  by the arrival five months later of their first son Joe Jnr.




  In 1980, their eldest boy was seventeen and already an unmarried dad to a son also called Joe. His brothers were Tony, fifteen, Tommy, thirteen, James, nine, and Paul, seven. At this time, the

  family, including sixteen-year-old sister Jackie, lived in a cramped council flat at 42 Blackthorn Street in Springburn, in the north-east of the city.




  Springburn in the nineteenth century had been an industrial powerhouse where thousands of men and four great works – Cowlairs, St Rollox, Hyde Park and Atlas – produced most of the

  steam engines, carriages and wagons that connected Britain with her global empire. By the 1970s, that industrial past was a ghost and much of the area had sunk into a pit of crime, grime, despair

  and violence although many good people were proud to call Springburn home.




  The area’s most famous face is Michael Martin who in 2000 became the first Roman Catholic Speaker of the House of Commons having been the local MP since 1979. His nickname of

  ‘Gorbals Mick’ reveals only the geographical ignorance of the sneering London commentators who coined it since he has no connection to that part of Glasgow. The pomp, ceremony and

  grandeur of the Houses of Parliament must seem like a different planet compared to the streets where the people who vote for him live.




  Today much of Glasgow is booming and the city has enjoyed a cultural renaissance and ongoing improvements. But, no matter how much cash is spent, pockets of inner city deprivation stubbornly

  remain – some of them amongst the worst in Britain. A National Health Service study in 2004 revealed the extent of Springburn’s appalling health problems. On average, men could expect

  to live to sixty-six-and-a-half years against a UK average of seventy-seven. In the whole of the UK, Springburn was only beaten by Glasgow’s Shettleston area which had an average male life

  expectancy of sixty-three – the same as India and Iraq. Taking third place in this unenviable league table was neighbouring Maryhill. This report prompted eminent public health expert

  Professor Ken Judge of the University of Glasgow to remark, ‘There are parts of Glasgow that should be thought of as Third World communities.’




  Two years earlier, another study, this time by the Child Poverty Action Group, also exposed the neighbourhood’s despair. Measuring life expectancy, unemployment, income levels and

  illiteracy, it found the same three parts of Glasgow – Shettleston, Springburn and Maryhill – to be the three most deprived areas in Britain. Poor diet, smoking, excess alcohol, lack of

  exercise, poor housing and amenities, not to mention drugs and violence, still shape much of modern Glasgow.




  It is little surprise that the ruthlessness, greed and casual violence required for the life of a drug dealer should be nurtured in places like these. The McGoverns’ extended family was

  scattered around the same area but, when people quietly spoke in tones of respect, fear or hatred about the ‘McGovern family’, they now usually meant Joe, Tommy, Tony, James and

  Paul.




  One former neighbour remembers Tony as being a bright boy who, even in his schooldays, had an eye for making money. He said:




  

    

      

        He obviously became heavily involved in drugs but, like a lot of these guys, he was great on a personal level – he could be kind to his pals. When he was a kid, he

        had a go-cart and would charge other boys ten pence to have a shot on it.


      


    


  




  Such fond childhood moments may not have been typical for this family but even those who knew of the McGoverns’ reputation back then would have been unlikely to predict the sheer scale of

  violence that would cling to the family, their friends and their enemies in later years. As the late 1980s and 1990s exploded into a perpetual chain of shootings, slashings, beatings and fire

  attacks, those teenage days of bragging and joking outside Santi’s must have seemed like a more innocent age.




  It was outside the popular chip shop that the McGovern boys first discovered that crime did pay. They also realised that, in a city where it is estimated that one in three adults receive state

  benefits, they would never join the respectable ranks of the commuting chip shop customers. These middle-aged customers were not the most street-smart and the McGovern boys were adept at clocking a

  wallet carelessly poking out of a back pocket. The kids would take it in turn to try to remove the wallet by stealth and, even if their victims caught them in the act, they would rarely be quick

  enough to do much about it. Once safely in the back lanes of nearby tenements, the thief would count the spoils which would be used to pay for that night’s carry-out of cheap cider, vodka and

  64p packs of cigarettes.




  For one police officer, who was to have many encounters with the McGoverns throughout his career, the radio call to attend a pickpocketing outside Santi’s soon became routine. As usual,

  when he and his colleague pulled up to deal with the irate victim, all potential witnesses claimed to have seen nothing. Anyone in Springburn who was seen to be helping the police would land

  themselves with the potentially dangerous tag of ‘grass’.




  The police knew that their light-fingered suspects would almost always include the young McGovern boys but there was rarely anything they could do about it and, from an early age, the McGovern

  boys enjoyed getting away with it.
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  Blackthorn Street to Amsterdam




  Police officers sometimes claim that those who are born into the McGovern family learn to steal before they can speak. But that dig does not do justice to the sheer scale of

  the family’s long-running love affair with shoplifting, pickpocketing, till dipping, distraction thefts and however many other ways there are to say the word ‘stealing’.




  One retail crime expert said, ‘It’s almost like a mental illness or genetic fault where they just cannot help themselves. Even with thousands of pounds in their pockets, they would

  still instinctively want to take a Mars Bar without paying.’




  To the present day, the brothers’ cousin Jean McGovern – born between Tommy and Tony – along with her partner-in-crime Annette Daniel, from an equally notorious Glasgow crime

  family, ran the most professional team of shoplifters in Scotland. Despairing defence lawyers would look sheriffs in the eye and offer mumbled pleas in mitigation that it is just the way they are

  made as they try to talk their clients out of a stint inside Cornton Vale Prison.




  The McGovern and Daniel teams routinely get away with helping themselves to entire rails of expensive garments from some of the finest designer stores in Glasgow’s Buchanan Street,

  Edinburgh’s Princes Street and London’s Oxford Street. In seconds, thousands of pounds’ worth of stock from Birmingham to Braehead and Dundee to Darlington can disappear only to

  be later eagerly snapped up for half-price around the pubs and bingo halls of Glasgow or more anonymously disposed of on eBay.




  Long before these brazen shopping molls became the scourge of security guards and retailers the length and breadth of the land, it was the boys who were making piles of cash – simply by

  taking it out of shop tills. Nabbing wallets from outside a local chippy was one thing but their daring till-dipping trips were soon to attract the attention of the now defunct Scottish Crime Squad

  and even Interpol. The McGoverns were about to enter the big league.




  One police officer said:




  

    

      

        They started out by going round big stores in Scotland like Marks & Spencer and staging what appeared to be a real fight between a couple of kids who had been brought

        along for the purpose. When the woman leapt out from behind the till to try and stop the boys from killing each other, one of the gang would calmly lean over and clean out the till. The

        McGoverns made this scam their own. They then started to get their hands on till keys. It was usually the case that the same keys fitted every till in every store in a UK-wide chain. It was a

        free for all.




        The boys were dabbling in drug dealing at this point as well and the money from the stealing helped to finance their first bulk purchases. Such was the scale of their till dipping that

        they soon became known to police forces across Scotland. That led to the former Scottish Crime Squad taking an interest and, as the heat increased on them here, they would travel into England

        but that was even more serious as it was cross-border crime. Before long they were travelling to Europe and hitting places like Amsterdam, Paris and Brussels.


      


    


  




  These brash young men with their pockets stuffed with cash were well suited to the late 1980s environment of yuppies and excess in which they operated. It was coming to the end of Margaret

  Thatcher’s era and, at the time, the biggest comedy character was Harry Enfield’s yobbish Loadsamoney who taunted people with his own wad of banknotes.




  An ex-police officer said:




  

    

      

        The problem was that we were always a step behind them. I remember being part of a Scottish Crime Squad team that followed them by car to the ferry at Hull. As they got on

        the ferry, they had a right laugh by waving at us as we stood watching, unable to do anything.




        They often used Hull but were smart enough to use various English ports. They would drive south and hit stores in all the big English cities along the way – you could follow their

        progress from the trail of crime reports.




        Sometimes they would use a stolen car to travel. There was no shortage of people in Springburn willing to sell them their driving licence for as little as £30. That way, they could

        just dump the car which had been hired in the other person’s name at Amsterdam’s Schiphol Airport and fly back to Glasgow. The sergeant at Glasgow Airport was told to look out for

        them and he must have pulled them a hundred times. This was before the Euro was introduced in 2002 so they would have piles of different European currencies like Dutch guilders or French

        francs. It was also before the Proceeds of Crime Act came along so there was nothing they could do about all this cash even though it was obviously stolen.


      


    


  




  One former McGovern family ally said:




  

    

      

        They always worked in teams of four in a car and Tony was the boss. He made sure the best boys came with him and, if they weren’t up to scratch, they would be put on

        the sidelines for a spell.




        They had a rule that they would not return home until they each had £5,000 in their pockets. They could turn over up to £30,000 from a trip to Europe which, even today, is a

        staggering amount of money. They had passports planked over there in case they had to flee in a hurry.




        They would put on different accents, such as Irish, French or English, to confuse any witnesses who would have no idea they were actually Scottish. If they got cornered by a store guard,

        there was always one of them able to knock him out as they were capable and fit. On some occasions, they even wore disguises like fake moustaches or beards and would put on hats and coats

        that old men would wear. They might have looked odd but it served their purpose well.




        It was clever and well executed and they continued doing it long after they started dealing in drugs at a serious level. They would come back from these trips like some kind of Elizabethan

        explorers decked out in top-quality designer clothes that we had never seen before. They also had booze and piles of cash. In fact, the money from these robberies helped them buy their way

        into the higher level of dealing.


      


    


  




  Another former police officer, who had previously arrested Stevenson in south Glasgow over the car break-in, despaired at the lack of police reaction to this well-planned criminality at a time

  when the force did not even acknowledge the existence of ‘organised crime’. He said:




  

    

      

        Stevenson was involved with the McGovern teams at that time and I was surprised because I had last dealt with him over the car incident a couple of years earlier and this

        was a different ball game.




        The problem was that we had masses of intelligence on the overseas operations – who they were, their methods and a very accurate level of how much money they were making which was at

        least £500,000 a year. But the senior officers didn’t act. They didn’t know what to do about it because they had never come across it before. Whether someone is making half

        a million quid from drugs or any other type of crime, we should have still pursued them. It was ignored and the chance was missed.


      


    


  


In the mid 80s, on one trip, Tony and two of his team escaped alive from a car crash in central Europe when the driver died after falling asleep at the wheel and hitting a

        tree. A former Strathclyde Police intelligence officer said:


  

    

      

        



        The driver was a McGovern associate and he had £6,000 in his pocket despite being unemployed.




        The problem got so bad that we put together a book of mugshots and details on all the travelling thieves which was circulated across Scotland. The sheer numbers that originated from

        north-east Glasgow, in particular Springburn and Possilpark, were unbelievable. Before long, the UK police forces all had a copy of the booklet and then Interpol distributed it around

        Europe.




        Every other week, we took calls from police officers in Europe asking us to look at CCTV of suspected Scottish store thieves. We knew it was going to be the McGovern gang before we even

        looked at it.


      


    


  




  One thing such trips did was to expand the criminal horizons of the McGovern boys and take them to places such as Amsterdam which, as one of Europe’s illegal drug industry hubs, would

  later become crucial in their operation.




  But the hard-bitten Glasgow CID men who tried to keep a lid on the gangs of youths in places like Springburn and Possilpark, known as Possil, were not impressed by this upstart gang of cocky,

  cash-rich criminals. A handful of these officers were also the type who did not always follow the rules when it came to dealing with crooks who revelled in getting away with it.




  In 1985, one officer arrested Tony over a minor outstanding warrant and he was taken to the city’s Baird Street police station. The former detective said:




  

    

      

        He was brought in all cocky so I decided to make up some fake tenner bags of heroin with magazine paper and cling film. They looked just like the real thing. I walked into

        the interview room and threw the wraps down in front of him and told him he was getting done for them. He was still in his late teens at this point and he just burst into tears. There was a

        real battle going on at that point because they thought they could do what they wanted. They also thought that a few of us would do anything to jail them so, when I did that, his arse

        collapsed.


      


    


  




  This unofficial but systematic CID campaign of hounding family members as they swaggered between their Springburn pubs, controlled drug dealing and enjoyed their European spoils did not have the

  desired effect. The officer said:




  

    

      

        We were stopping them at every opportunity which began to really disrupt the smooth running of their drugs business. Then one day this delegation of around half a dozen

        members of the McGovern family, men and women, trooped in to complain about what they described as harassment by two particular cops.




        We couldn’t believe it when one of the officers was put back to uniform and the other was stuck away in the warrants office. The troops felt that the bosses should have commended

        them for making life hard for the McGoverns.




        If your kids were growing up in a Springburn awash with McGovern smack, you’d want the police to be harassing them. But the bosses didn’t have the backbone to tell them where

        to go and the easiest answer was just to cave in.


      


    


  




  These recriminations within the ranks were a major coup for the crime clan. Yet again, the McGoverns were getting away with it.
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  Taste for Drugs




  The young Scot in the red-and-white football scarf was not the only Liverpool fan heading to Merseyside for the big game. There had even been a few exiled Scousers on the 10

  a.m. train from Glasgow Central and, two hours later, hundreds of fans were on the platform at Preston, waiting for a lunchtime connection to Liverpool Lime Street. Jamie Stevenson, who could not

  have named many of the Anfield team, blended in perfectly.




  One associate remembers:




  

    

      

        It would have been 1985 or so and the McGoverns had started into the drugs business. They had suppliers in Glasgow but were also dealing with the Liverpool gangs. They

        were not taking huge amounts from Merseyside so it could easily fit into a wee rucksack or even a jacket pocket. They’d send a courier down to collect the stuff and bring it up the

        road. It was often Stevenson. He was a pal of Tony’s at that stage but still way down the pecking order in terms of hierarchy. He was more or less a gofer for the brothers – a tea

        boy.




        Whenever a delivery coincided with a Liverpool game, he would time his trip to mix in with all the fans coming and going on the trains. He’d wear the scarf and everything. I think he

        enjoyed the pantomime.




        Of course what the McGoverns didn’t realise was that he was down there meeting the boys in Liverpool and making contacts of his own. The McGoverns thought they were sending the boy

        down for the messages but all the time he was seeing how the business worked. He learned a lot and, when the time came to go on his own, it showed.


      


    


  




  Liverpool was one supply route for the McGovern gang as they realised the profit from drugs could easily outstrip the fortunes they were raking in from their European robbery sprees. But another

  supplier was far closer to home.




  There are many stories about Arthur Thompson – and just as many drink-soaked bores and gangland apologists to tell them. He was the Godfather, the courteous old-school criminal who

  dominated Glasgow’s underworld for decades. He never spoke to the police. He never hurt civilians. And he would never touch drugs.




  If his legend seems to grow each year since his death in 1993, the reality remains unspoken. He was one major criminal among many in the city. He was a hugely violent man who was capable of

  inflicting terrible pain, injuries and death both on his own and by order. Many innocents were harmed by his awful business. And he did deal drugs. The malignant Godfather was one of the

  first suppliers of heroin to the Springburn brothers who were wanting to secure a toehold in the trade.




  The start of the 1980s witnessed a rapidly changing criminal landscape. Old bank robbers and burglars were the equivalent of office workers with forty years’ service. They had become

  yesterday’s men. They either adapted to the new drugs scene or became redundant.




  At this time, heroin was seeping into the schemes of Scotland. The authorities were far from prepared as the first ripples of what would become a tidal wave of the drug crashed on to

  Scotland’s cities. In Edinburgh, for example, an official clampdown on the distribution of hypodermic needles was meant to reduce addiction but only helped fuel the spread of HIV and AIDS.

  The gangsters did not exhibit the paralysis and confusion shown by the authorities. Switched-on mobs like the McGoverns were perfectly placed to stake an early claim on this highly profitable yet

  poisonous action.




  One Thompson family associate recalls how, in the mid 80s, ‘the McGovern boys were taking six ounces of smack each week. That soon went up to nine ounces. Gangsters like Tam Bagan and Paul

  Ferris were working for Thompson at the time and they were aware of the McGoverns’ rising reputation.’




  Today, an ounce of heroin costing £1,000 will produce 160 ‘tenner bags’ – a pea-sized cellophane wrap of brown powder sold as a £10 deal, which is enough for one

  hit. Once that ounce has been cut with whatever substance comes to hand, a door or street dealer will easily be able to make up 300 tenner bags. That means £3,000 will be recouped for their

  initial £1,000 outlay. In the 1980s, the profits were even greater because there were fewer competing dealers.




  With the McGoverns’ ongoing overseas robbing trips bringing back up to £30,000 each time, bags of heroin were a logical investment choice for criminals. Putting the cash into

  property, shares or tax-free savings accounts would not land you in prison but it would also never yield instant profits of 200 per cent. Heroin has since plummeted in price due to a glut on the

  market meaning there were even fatter profits then than today.




  At this time, the McGoverns’ HQ was Thomson’s bar which was strategically placed in the middle of their Springburn heartland. It was a comfortable pub and not typical of the more

  unwelcoming gangland howffs scattered around the city. One former regular said:




  

    

      

        Ordinary people drank there because it was well run and they had a football and dominoes team. It was more like the Queen Vic in EastEnders than somewhere like old

        Arthur Thompson’s Provanmill Inn where strangers dared not enter. Of course, there was rarely any trouble because everyone knew that it was a McGovern pub.


      


    


  




  However, one teenage peddler of stolen goods around pubs in those days has mixed feelings about the place. He said:




  

    

      

        You would always make money in Thomson’s because, no matter what time you went in, the place was busy. It was a guaranteed pub for a few quid but one time I had this

        £5 watch and a guy from Thomson’s put it on and said he was keeping it. When I said he could keep it only if he paid me, he reached inside his jacket as if he had a blade. I had

        to back off.


      


    


  




  Those early heroin deals were mainly conducted by twenty-one-year-old Tony and Tommy, then nineteen. In this drugs business, Tony was the MD while Tommy was his number two. Tony was the brains

  while Tommy was the brawn. Tony could charm while Tommy would growl. Others regarded the less visible eldest brother Joe as a more mature controlling influence, almost like the chairman of the

  board. Fourth son James was aged fifteen and just months away from being shot while the youngest, thirteen-year-old Paul would murder a man three years later. At this time, Tony and Stevenson, then

  one of the mob’s key enforcers, were stuck together like glue and people often mistook them for cousins. It was clear that, when it came to business, Tony was the boss.




  In the early 1990s, the McGovern mob of brothers Tony and Tommy along with Stevenson were a force to be reckoned with. Before the trendier glass-fronted private health clubs spread across the

  city, they used what was then called the Springburn Sports Centre to keep fit. The most successful gangsters usually possess a mental toughness but the Springburn gang understood that physical

  strength and fitness would give them an extra edge over potential rivals, who could be flabby in mind and body. Stevenson would maintain his enthusiasm for gruelling physical workouts throughout

  his career.




  Often the police would pull up Tony in his red top-of-the-range four-wheel drive outside the municipal gym but they would rarely be able to pin anything on him. There was no chance that the

  police would ever be able to make him cry again. Even in years to come, when he led a tight team of armed robbers who struck at a series of banks, the charges often failed to stick.




  Others in the McGovern gym squad at that time included the powerful figure of Willie Cross, who was around four years older than Tony. In 2007, Cross would be standing in the dock alongside

  Stevenson. This health-conscious enforcer had previously worked for an older generation of Glasgow gang boss, a security firm owner called Bobby Dempster, nicknamed The Devil, before choosing to

  join the McGoverns.




  Also on the scene at the sports centre was Colin McKay who is just a few months younger than Tommy. Even his friends describe him as a ‘psychopath’ and, almost as an afterthought, a

  very talented football player. He was later accused of using his particularly large hands to strangle his friend Chris McGrory to death in September 1997 but walked free from that thanks to

  Scotland’s controversial ‘not proven verdict. McGrory died just after he had returned from his honeymoon. When he got married, McKay had been his best man. In 2005, McKay was to be

  cleared of a second gangland slaying. This time the victim was twenty-five-year-old Richard Holmes who died after being shot on Halloween 2004 and children out guising witnessed the clinical

  murder. The gunman, McKay’s co-accused, got eighteen years.




  Later, McKay fell out with the McGoverns and did not seem too bothered by their growing reputation. He would deliberately swagger past the windows of Thomson’s bar as an act of

  provocation. Those inside would race to the door but McKay would gesture with a hand reaching towards the inside of his jacket that he had a knife, causing the mob to slink back into the pub,

  shouting threats and insults behind them. Some fights were worth the hassle but this one was not.




  Along with McKay, the other alleged McGrory killer was robber, dealer and dog fighter Frank McPhie, who, at the age of fifty-one, was himself killed in 2000 by a sniper’s bullet, following

  a feud with the Daniel family. The audacious hit on McPhie at the entrance of his Maryhill flat remains unsolved.




  Tony and Tommy’s brother-in-law is Russell Stirton. People joked that it would take a brave man to go on a date with the McGovern sister, Jackie – can you imagine having those five

  brothers coming after you if you broke her heart? Enemies say that Stirton climbed up the greasy gangland pole thanks, in no small part, to his in-laws and the reputation of their name but he was

  also a capable operator.




  He later began dealing in the hidden world of mail order boxes, flogging porn and sex aids, allegedly as an early way of trying to launder the profits of drug deals. It is equally possible that

  this tacky Love Boat business’s presence in Amsterdam could have had as much to do with the availability of drugs as porn.




  Many of the McGovern crew could be found at the leisure centre at a time when Stevenson really began to stick out. It seems that he still had not learned to keep his mouth shut. One person, who

  also attended the gym for several years, said:




  

    

      

        Tony was the boss – he was the director of everything. Tommy was always nearby as was Stirton but Tony was the chief. Tony was a fit young man in those days and he

        was into general keep-fit while Jamie was more into pumping his muscles up. He was more interested in looking the part. He was quite sleekit and never made eye contact. He was a big, cocky,

        arrogant young guy with a real swagger and had the bad habit of being crude towards some of the women customers. He would say things like ‘I would shag that!’ in a loud voice,

        certainly loud enough for the girl to hear. He wasn’t exactly Prince Charming.




        Some days, Jamie would turn up and batter on the gym door if it wasn’t open and try and intimidate the staff. Tony would then calm it down and most people would be fine with that but

        there were plenty of boys capable of taking on Stevenson at that time. In the gym, they didn’t talk business but everyone knew they were full-time criminals. They were into drugs, armed

        robbery and the like and were usually to be found in Thomson’s which is just seconds away.




        If it came to a square go between Tony and Stevenson, my money would be on Tony because, despite being smaller, he was a real street fighter.


      


    


  




  This was a few years before the 1996 release of the cult movie Trainspotting, a darkly comic look at a group of Edinburgh heroin addicts. The opening credits feature scenes of the

  film’s anti-heroes Renton, Sick Boy, Spud, Tommy and Begbie waging a particularly dirty game of five-a-side football but even that was a friendly kick-about compared to the weekly battle that

  took place in Springburn.




  Every week, while thousands of boys, youths and men across Scotland enjoy casual games of football with their pals and colleagues for a bit of exercise, the McGoverns played for money and hard

  men, like Tony and Tommy McGovern, Stevenson, McKay and Cross, would play dirty to win.




  One bystander said:




  

    

      

        This was like five-a-side fighting rather than football even though they were mostly decent players. They would kick lumps out of each other. To make it even more

        interesting they would play for money with the winning team pocketing £100. They would sometimes pay £50 to ex-professional players to appear as ringers which only made the game

        more fierce.


      


    


  




  A member of another crime gang said:




  

    

      

        They were making a hell of a lot of money but Stevenson was actually not their most dangerous member. They had one other guy doing their dirty work who had a slight lisp

        and had a much worse reputation for violence than Stevenson. All these types of guys do the damage on behalf of who they think are their pals and end up getting the jail for it. Very rarely

        do any of them realise they are getting a using to make other people money.




        Sometimes old Arthur would need to send a couple of boys to remind Tommy to get his money paid by the end of the week so they were by no way the kingpins at that point. They knew their

        place in the pecking order.


      


    


  




  But, by the early 90s, this cocky, fit and streetwise mob were effectively running their Springburn heartlands inspiring a taste for power as well as money. Their swaggering sense of command was

  such that they sometimes walked into the council-run gym without paying despite having pockets stuffed with cash. They did it because they could.
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  Takeover




  By 1990, pumping dance music and glassy-eyed smiling faces were no longer limited to the rave generation as Ecstasy swept the mainstream nightclubs of Britain’s cities.

  In Glasgow, clubbers aware of their identity would be disconcerted to see men known for violence – men like Stevenson and Tony McGovern – grinning like Cheshire cats and embracing while

  high on the little white Doves that, in those days, cost around £25 each. Nowadays a pill can cost £2, less than a packet of cigarettes, which only underlines how the large-scale

  importation of class A drugs has driven down prices on the streets.




  The venue for much of the McGoverns’ partying was a club that was to later burn down. Called Peggy Sue’s, it was in West George Street in the centre of Glasgow, just along from Queen

  Street Station. The boys wore the best designer gear, they swigged bottles of trendy foreign lager or, if they wanted to show off, bottles of champagne would be casually summoned with the click of

  a finger, with one round often costing more than some people earned in a week.




  They would rub shoulders with the footballers and pretty girls in the VIP section of venues like Peggy Sue’s, Hollywood Studios and the Tuxedo Princess, a rusting former ferry

  docked in the shadow of the Kingston Bridge on the River Clyde that was the height of cool when it opened in 1988.




  Tony and his crew would consider themselves a cut above and those wanting Ecstasy or a little bit of cocaine – then still a preserve of the rich – knew they would always be able to

  provide.




  It went without saying that the McGovern crew would stroll past the nightclub queue and be ushered inside by bouncers who rarely showed the same respect towards the paying customers standing

  patiently in line. Not that such hedonistic evenings were completely without incident and nor did the wave of Ecstasy-induced happiness mean an end to the occasional slashing, beating or even

  murder.




  One night in October 1989, a Peggy Sue’s bouncer called Mick Kane, from Possil, died in an ambulance after being found in a pool of blood having been stabbed at the club. It was a

  twenty-seven-year-old McGovern associate who was to be arrested shortly afterwards and charged over the murder of the thirty-five-year-old doorman.




  One associate said:




  

    

      

        The charges were eventually reduced to culpable homicide and the McGoverns liked to make out that they pulled strokes with people in authority to get it dropped from

        murder. The truth is that his lawyer got the deal based on the facts of what happened and not because of string-pulling by the McGoverns.
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